30288
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 85804

Electronically Filed
May 01 2023 06:34 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

STEVE WYNN,

Appellant,

v.

THE ASSOCIATED PRESS; REGINA GARCIA CANO

Respondent.

STEVE WYNN'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Ronald J. Israel, Department XXVIII
District Court Case No. A-18-772715-C

Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534
Jordan T. Smith, Esq., Bar No. 12097
Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., Bar No. 13442
Daniel R. Brady, Esq., Bar No. 15508
PISANELLI BICE PLLC
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: 702.214.2100

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 41.670(4) to review the district court's grant or denial of a special motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660. Moreover, this Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) as an order granting an anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss is a final judgment.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction under NRAP 17(a)(11)-(12) because the district court's ruling – that statements regarding a public figure are per se statements related to a public concern – is an issue of statewide public importance.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Respondents Regina Garcia Cano and The Associated Press published a fantastical and false claim of rape against Steve Wynn that supposedly occurred in the 1970s. Despite doing no investigation, seeking no comment and acknowledging the allegations to be "crazy," they nonetheless hurriedly published, in violation of their own standards, because their reporter was desperate for a headline-grabbing story, and she had been repeatedly scooped by competitors. Thus:

1. Did Respondents fail to satisfy the first prong of Nevada's anti-SLAPP analysis when their defamatory article related to issues of mere curiosity, not public interests, and they published the defamatory article without any investigation?
2. Does prima facie evidence of actual malice exist here, where Respondents deviated from their standard newspaper practices and procedures in their rush to publish a defamatory article without investigating or fact-checking the article, even though the author recognized that the source presented obvious reasons to doubt its veracity?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Steve Wynn ("Wynn") appeals the district court order granting Respondents Regina Garcia Cano ("Garcia Cano") and the Associated Press' ("AP") (collectively, "AP Respondents") anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss. Garcia Cano, a reporter for the AP, arrived in Las Vegas looking for a lucky break to make her name. After several fruitless months covering Las Vegas' casino industry, Garcia Cano's "scoop" never arrived. Instead, she spent her time watching reporters with competitors like the Wall Street Journal ("WSJ") or the Las Vegas Review Journal ("Review Journal") break stories – stories that Garcia Cano could never catch.

Although Garcia Cano published a handful of stories that rehashed other publications' stories, she never made much headway on a substantive story of her own. Eventually, the Review Journal published a story explaining that two women filed citizens' complaints with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") vaguely alleging that Wynn sexually assaulted them in the 1970s, approximately 40 years ago. Still searching for a story, Garcia Cano filed a records request for the citizens' complaints, as did several of AP's competitors.

Soon after filing her records request, Garcia Cano received a call from LVMPD informing her that the copies were available. Aware of her competitors' interest, Garcia Cano abandoned her work and raced to LVMPD's office. After reviewing the citizens' complaints, Garcia Cano rushed back to her office to churn

out an article. Despite telling a colleague that one of the complaints was "crazy," Garcia Cano drafted an article accusing Wynn of rape – with no investigation – that the AP published (the "Article"). Less than an hour elapsed from the time Garcia Cano obtained the citizens' complaints to the AP publishing the first iteration of the Article. The Article included no comment from Wynn as AP Respondents did not reach out to him until hours after they published the false Article. AP Respondents then refused to retract the Article despite it being false.

AP Respondents originally replied with an anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss contending, among other things, that the fair report privilege applied to their defamatory article. While the district court agreed and dismissed Wynn's claim, this Court disagreed. On appeal, this Court concluded that the fair report privilege did not apply because the complaints upon which AP Respondents based their article were not official police reports but mere citizens' complaints transcribed by police officers. Accordingly, this Court remanded this matter back to the district court to determine whether AP Respondents met their burden under the first prong of Nevada's anti-SLAPP analysis and, if so, whether Wynn met his burden under the second prong.

But on remand, the district court failed to apply controlling case law. Instead of determining whether the Article related to a public interest under the *Shapiro v. Welt*, 133 Nev. 35, 389 P.3d 262 (2017) factors, the district court erroneously

assumed the Article related to a public interest because Wynn was a public figure. As to the merits, the district court summarily concluded that AP Respondents could not have obtained any further information through an investigation and, thus, AP Respondents met their burden under the first prong. Without elaboration, the district court then concluded that Wynn failed to show any evidence of actual malice and granted AP Respondents' anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The district court's approach contradicted this Court's prior mandate and deviated from established law. At the first prong, the district court did not apply the *Shapiro* factors to determine whether the Article related to an issue of public interest. Instead, the district court concluded the Article necessarily related to a public interest because Wynn is a public figure – an analytical approach this Court expressly rejected in *Smith v. Zilverberg*, 137 Nev. 65, 481 P.3d 1222 (2021).

Applying the proper framework, the Article's subject matter is a mere curiosity – not an issue of public concern – as it relates to allegations of a private matter from more than 40 years ago. Further, the district court's perfunctory analysis of AP Respondents' "good faith" ignores the record: AP Respondents entertained doubts about the veracity of the allegations, yet nonetheless published the Article without an ounce of investigation. Accordingly, AP Respondents failed to meet their burden at the first prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis.

Beyond those failures, the district court ignored core principles of defamation law when it concluded Wynn failed to present prima facie evidence of actual malice. When determining whether a newspaper published an article with actual malice, courts have recognized that actual malice exists if the defendants omitted details to distort the truth of the article, *Dixon v. Ogden Newspapers, Inc.*, 416 S.E.2d 237, 244 (W. Va. 1992), relied on anonymous sources without attempting to verify the information, *Dodds v. Am. Broad. Co.*, 145 F.3d 1053, 1063 (9th Cir. 1998), or sacrificed accuracy in reporting for sensationalism, *Perez v. Scripps-Howard Broad. Co.*, 520 N.E.2d 198, 204 (Ohio 1988).

Here again, Wynn presented sufficient evidence that AP Respondents omitted key details from the Article that exposed the falsity of the underlying citizens' complaint, relied on anonymous sources without any attempt to verify the information presented, and sacrificed accuracy for sensationalism. Thus, Wynn met his burden under the second prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis by showing the minimal merit of his defamation claim.

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background.

1. Garcia Cano failed to break stories in Las Vegas.

Garcia Cano, a long-time reporter with the AP, joined the AP's Las Vegas Bureau in January 2017. (3 JA 427.) Despite having no experience with or expertise

in gaming, AP assigned Garcia Cano to the gaming and tourism beat in Las Vegas. (*Id.* at 427-28.) Garcia Cano carried out her duties by listening to earnings calls, writing about changes to casinos, and covering the World Series of Poker. (*Id.* at 430.)

In January 2018, several of AP's competitors published articles accusing Wynn of sexual misconduct. (4 JA 628-29.) Having missed out on several stories – and now hunting for a scoop – [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. (*Id.* at 628.) As AP reasoned,

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.*)

But AP's instincts proved wrong, and Garcia Cano made no progress on her story. As her editor, Tom Tait, explained, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.* at 632.) Tait

suggested [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.*) Anna Johnson, the AP's

then-News Director for the West Region, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.*)

As her story on broader issues within the gaming industry went bust, Garcia Cano, with the AP's approval, focused on Wynn. Another local competitor, the Review Journal, published a story on February 12, 2018, stating that the LVMPD had taken two statements from two women who were making accusations against Wynn. (2 JA 262-63.) According to the Review Journal, these accusations stemmed from the 1970s, some 40 years prior to the citizens' complaints. (*See id.* at 316.) Despite no actual information beyond the Review Journal's own story, Garcia Cano published an article about the antiquated allegations and submitted a records request for the documents. (*Id.* at 333-34.) Garcia Cano knew that both the Review Journal and the WSJ had also filed records requests for copies.¹ (3 JA 462-63.)

2. *AP Respondents rushed to publish the defamatory Article based on the citizens' complaints' false allegations without investigating any aspect of the complaints.*

Shortly before noon on February 27, 2018, LVMPD informed Garcia Cano that copies of the citizens' complaints were available. (2 JA 265.) Garcia Cano

¹ AP Respondents continually refer to the citizens' complaints as "police reports." However, as this Court explained, the complaints are not "police reports" but, rather, are "documentation of a citizens' complaint to the police alleging a crime occurred." *Wynn v. Associated Press*, 136 Nev. 611, 611-12, 475 P.3d 44, 46 (2020). As this Court stressed, the documents are just "citizen's complaint to the police," because the only action taken by law enforcement was the "mere transcription of a complainant's allegations." *Id.* at 612, 475 P.3d at 46. Thus, Wynn refers to the documents as the citizens' complaints that they are, not the police reports AP Respondents style them, as they seek the additional gravitas and protection that such a designation provides.

"dropped everything" and raced over to obtain copies. (3 JA 437.) Unable to wait, she sat in her car and read the citizens' complaints in LVMPD's parking lot. (2 JA 240.) One complaint contained a particularly outlandish and unbelievable story: After alleging that Wynn sexually assaulted the complainant in 1973 or 1974,² it continued,

She ended up pregnant. It was a hot steamy afternoon and she needed to go to the restroom. She saw a gas station and went in to the restroom. She was in pain standing by the wall and gave birth. The baby was laying on her feet inside the water bag. She slid down and said a doll is inside the water bag, the blood falling down, and she wanted to open, but the water bag was thick. She used her teeth to make a small opening then with her finger, opened the water bag and saw that the doll was purple. She started to blow on her and in a short time her cheeks were turning pink and she opened her eyes. She looked so much like her.

(*Id.* at 337-38.)³ According to the citizen complaint, the child still lives in Las Vegas, and knows Wynn as her father. (*Id.* at 338.)⁴

² While the initial copies of the citizens' complaints redacted the name of the accuser, later versions revealed that Halina Kuta ("Kuta") filed the citizens' complaint alleging she gave birth to Wynn's child in a gas station bathroom. (2 JA 391-92.)

³ The district court concluded that these allegations were false and defamatory and issued judgment against the complainant, Halina Kuta. (1 JA 211-13.)

⁴ Further confirming that Respondents did not believe this ridiculous story, they did no searching for the supposed child that Wynn would have fathered by way of rape. (3 JA 477-78) Even the AP's witnesses admitted that if anyone actually thought that Wynn had fathered a child through rape, that is a news story that they would have pursued. (*Id.* at 476-77). No one actually pursued it, which is just further confirmation that Respondents did not believe it, but published out of a desire for headlines.

But, at the office, Garcia Cano reached out to her supervisor, Brady McComb, asking if he was "available for a phone call." (2 JA 342.) She explained that she obtained the citizens' complaints and that "[o]ne of them is *crazy*." (*Id.* (emphasis added).) While the allegations dated back over forty years, Garcia Cano treated them as if they had happened yesterday. She foisted responsibility for the "Utah digest" on another coworker, explaining that "I *need* to work on [the Wynn story]." (*Id.* (emphasis added).) In her haste to publish *something*, Garcia Cano did not reach out to Wynn or his representatives for comment. (2 JA 267; 3 JA 447.) Thus, within an hour of obtaining the citizens' complaints, AP Respondents published an article accusing Wynn of "Rape" (the "Article") with no fact-checking or reaching out to Wynn for a comment (*see* 2 JA 265-68; 3 JA 447.) Despite later claiming that by "crazy," what she really meant is that the allegations of the birth were "explosive," Garcia Cano tellingly omitted those details from the Article. (2 JA 344; 3 JA 537.)

This rapid publication without investigation and request for comment ran counter to AP's own standards. (3 JA 469.) Despite choosing to publish the Article without seeking Wynn's comment, the initial story, which was published and picked up by the AP's subscribers, did not bother to include Wynn's previous denials of misconduct, although later iterations of the Article did. (*Compare* 2 JA 344, with *id.* at 346.) Garcia Cano admits that she did not even attempt to reach out to any representative of Wynn until at least an hour after publication (2 JA 267-68), despite

that the AP's own publishing standards stress the importance of accurate and thorough reporting in advance of publishing allegations of sexual misconduct: "As with all accusations, these allegations should be well-documented and corroborated in some way, including an effort to get some comment from the accused individuals or their representatives." (3 JA 469.)

AP Respondents attempted to rationalize their misconduct by arguing that the 40-year-old citizens' complaints were somehow "time sensitive," and that the AP regularly publishes breaking news without seeking comment if the event is newsworthy. In fact, the AP attempted to analogize 40-year-old allegations of wrongdoing that resulted in no official action to reports on official actions taken by police, explaining that "[s]ay someone has been arrested for a mugging or has been indicted for a mugging," the AP would publish a story on the official action without first obtaining a comment from the accused. (3 JA 479.) But this is not a breaking news story related to any official action; as this Court recognized, AP Respondents knew that the reports they relied on were simply naked citizens' complaints that did not result in any official action by the police. *Wynn v. Associated Press*, 136 Nev. 611, 620, 475 P.3d 44, 52 (2020). There is a difference between official actions and the mere transcription of a citizen's 40-year-old complaint, which AP Respondents fail to recognize despite this Court's holding. *See id.*

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (4 JA 639-40.) [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.*) [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.*) [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.*) [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (*Id.* at 661.)

B. Procedural History.

1. Wynn files his defamation suit, and this Court concludes the Article is not privileged.

Despite no legal obligation requiring him to do so, Wynn demanded the AP retract the Article on March 26, 2018. (1 JA 11.) On April 11, 2018, the AP declined. (*Id.*) As such, Wynn filed his defamation suit against AP Respondents and Kuta. (*See id.* at 1.)

AP Respondents moved to dismiss, arguing that the fair report privilege applied because the Article accurately reported on the citizens' complaints' content.⁵ (*Id.* at 58-61.) The district court agreed, dismissing Wynn's complaint. (*Id.* at 201-02.) But this Court reversed, holding that the fair report privilege did not apply because the Article "republished allegations of criminal conduct contained in a citizen's complaint on which law enforcement did not take any official action." *Wynn*, 136 Nev. at 620, 475 P.3d at 52. This Court remanded for two determinations: the district court "shall determine" first, whether AP Respondents satisfied their burden under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP framework, and, second, whether Wynn met his burden under the second prong of the anti-SLAPP framework. *Id.*

2. *The district court issued a perfunctory order granting AP Respondents' anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss without applying the proper legal standard.*

On remand, after limited discovery, the district court granted AP Respondents' renewed anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss. (3 JA 553.) Despite this Court's mandate, the district court did not apply the requisite factors to determine whether the Article related to an issue of public concern. (*See id.* 552.) Rather, it concluded that the Article necessarily related to an issue of public concern because of Wynn's status as a public figure. (*Id.*) Moreover, even though AP Respondents conducted no

⁵ After AP Respondents filed their anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, the parties stipulated to bifurcate the briefing to first address whether the fair report privilege applied, and, if not, to then address the anti-SLAPP analysis. (1 JA 103-05.)

investigation or fact checking before publication, the district court found that "no additional information could have been obtained through further investigation" because the citizens' complaint redacted the complainant's name. (*Id.*) Thus, the district court concluded AP Respondents satisfied their burden under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP framework. (*Id.*) Finally, the court concluded, without analysis or citation to any applicable law, that Wynn "has not established a likelihood of prevailing on the merits." (*Id.* at 552-53.)

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews a decision to grant an anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss de novo. *Smith v. Zilverberg*, 137 Nev. 65, 67, 481 P.3d 1222, 1226 (2021).

A court must grant an anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss where

(1) the defendant shows, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based on a "good faith communication in furtherance of . . . the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern" and (2) the plaintiff fails to show, with prima facie evidence, a probability of prevailing on the claim.

Id. at 1227 (quoting NRS 41.660(3)(a)-(b). Wynn addresses each prong in turn.

B. The Article is not a Good Faith Communication in Furtherance of the Right to Free Speech.

"To satisfy the first prong, the defendant must show that (1) 'the comments at issue fall into one of the four categories of protected communications enumerated in NRS 41.637' and (2) 'the communication is truthful or is made without knowledge

of its falsehood." *Smith*, 137 Nev. at 67, 481 P.3d at 1227 (quoting *Stark v. Lackey*, 136 Nev. 38, 40, 458 P.3d 342, 345 (2020)).

1. AP Respondents failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the Article was made in direct connection with an issue of public interest because the Article's subject – Wynn's personal life – is not a public interest.

A "good faith communication" includes, among other things, "[c]ommunication[s] made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum." NRS 41.637(4). When a party relies on NRS 41.637(4) to satisfy the first-prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis, as AP Respondents do here, this Court applies the *Shapiro* factors to determine whether the statements relate to a genuine public interest. *Smith*, 137 Nev. at 68, 481 P.3d at 1227.

Under *Shapiro*, this Court considers

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