NO. 85804

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVE WYNN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 14 2023 01:33 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

V.

THE ASSOCIATED PRESS AND REGINA GARCIA CANO,

Defendants-Respondents.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Ronald J. Israel, District Judge District Court No. A-18-772715-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

David Chavez, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 15192
BALLARD SPAHR LLP
1980 Festival Plaza Drive
Suite 900
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
(702) 471-7000
chavezd@ballardspahr.com

Jay Ward Brown, Esq. (Pro hac vice)
Chad R. Bowman, Esq. (Pro hac vice)
BALLARD SPAHR LLP
1909 K Street, NW, 12th Floor

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Wynn raises two issues on appeal. *First*, remarkably, he disputes that the Challenged Article relates to a matter of public interest such that it represents the type of speech protected by Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute. *Second*, he claims that that the record provides sufficient evidence that Garcia Cano *subjectively knew* that the second complaint, made by the woman we now know as Kuta, was false or likely false—the First Amendment "actual malice" standard incorporated into the anti-SLAPP statute—such that he has demonstrated a probability of prevailing on his claims by clear and convincing evidence. The district court, however, properly rejected both arguments and this Court accordingly should affirm judgment for The AP.

Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute extends statutory protection to speech that is a "good faith communication" "in direct connection with an issue of public concern." NRS 41.637, 41.660(3)(a). By any test, the matters reported in the Challenged Article undeniably constitute matters of public interest. *See, e.g., Sipple v. Found.* for *Nat'l Progress*, 71 Cal. App. 4th 226, 236-39 (1999) (public figure's alleged

prior domestic abuse an issue of public concern).⁴ The allegations that Wynn had committed additional crimes similar in nature to those of which he had already repeatedly been accused—regardless of the ultimate accuracy of these particular new allegations—came to light through a public statement released by the LVMPD that disclosed the two additional allegations of sexual assault, made just weeks after the WSJ's report, and as gaming authorities launched their own investigations. A public figure's dismissal of sexual assault allegations as "a mere curiosity" about his "personal affairs" is not just remarkably tone-deaf and contrary to the Challenged Article itself, but clearly incorrect as a legal matter. *See generally Obsidian Fin. Grp., LLC v. Cox*, 740 F.3d 1284, 1292 (9th Cir. 2014) ("Public allegations that someone is involved in crime generally are speech on a matter of public concern.").

Further, the Challenged Article unquestionably was a "good faith communication," which, under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, The AP was required to demonstrate by a "preponderance of the evidence." NRS 41.660(3)(a). As this Court has previously held, when a defendant presents an affidavit attesting to their belief in the truthfulness of a challenged statement at the

_

⁴ In interpreting the Nevada anti-SLAPP statute, Nevada courts look to California, on whose statute the Nevada law is based. *See Shapiro v. Welt*, 133 Nev. 35, 39 (2017) (adopting "public interest" test from California courts); *see also* NRS 41.665(2) (adopting California standard for burden of proof); *Delucchi v. Songer*, 133 Nev. 290, 298 (2017) (adopting California reasoning because statute is "similar in purpose and language" to our anti-SLAPP statute") (citation omitted).

time it was published, and that attestation is not contradicted by other evidence in the record, that is sufficient. *See Stark v. Lackey*, 136 Nev. 38, 40 (2020). The AP more than satisfied this burden.

Applying the second prong of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute and evaluating whether Wynn could meet his burden of establishing a likelihood of prevailing which, under the First Amendment requires clear and convincing evidence of actual malice fault by The AP—the district court correctly concluded that Wynn presented no evidence of such fault, and thus could not demonstrate a likelihood of prevailing. Although Wynn on appeal urges that he has evidence of The AP's motivation to publish the allegations and of its failure to investigate the complaints submitted to LVMPD, such arguments are not only mischaracterizations of the evidence and without support in the record, but also legally irrelevant to the subjective "actual malice" standard. Indeed, Wynn does not, and cannot, present any evidence to even suggest that The AP knew that the allegations of rape and paternity in the Challenged Article were false or so improbable that they must have been false. The allegations were made in the context of multiple other charges of sexual misconduct, and the identity of this particular alleged victim was at that time unknown to anyone except the LVMPD—including to Wynn himself—until well after The AP published the Challenged Article. Ultimately, Wynn's argument boils down to a claim that Garcia Cano must have doubted the allegation because of a description of a gas station birth

also included in the complaint to the police. While the logic of that theory is questionable, as discussed below, it is also irrelevant given Garcia Cano's unequivocal, and unimpeached, testimony that she did not believe the allegation was fabricated.⁵

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Steve Wynn

As this Court has recognized, Wynn is "a well-known public figure in Nevada." *Wynn v. Smith*, 117 Nev. 6, 9 (2001). Wynn's name is in many ways synonymous with Las Vegas: His own Complaint characterizes him as a "visionary," "well-known and recognized for his role in the revitalization of the Las Vegas Strip in the 1990s." JA00006-07. He is a prolific political donor and a billionaire; *Forbes* magazine last year estimated his net worth at over \$3 billion. JA00374. He has also been a frequent defamation plaintiff, bringing legal claims against his critics, *e.g.*, *Smith*, 117 Nev. at 10 (defamation action over book profiling him)—including, in this case, a nonprofit news cooperative and an individual news

⁵ Wynn in his Brief makes arguments regarding additional elements of defamation claims. Br. at 32-35. The parties, however, entered into a stipulated agreement that is reflected in the district court's Order to address *only* the application of the anti-SLAPP statute and the actual malice fault standard to the Challenged Article. Neither party presented these other issues regarding other elements of his claim to the district court, and the district court did not rule on them. Accordingly, this Court need not, and should not, consider them on this appeal.

reporter. On at least one occasion, Wynn was adjudicated to have violated a state's anti-SLAPP statute. *Wynn v. Chanos*, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 80062 (N.D. Cal. June 19, 2015), *aff'd*, 685 F. App'x 578 (9th Cir. 2017) (dismissing Wynn's complaint pursuant to California's anti-SLAPP statute and awarding more than \$400,000 in fees and costs to defendant).

B. The AP

The Associated Press is a not-for-profit international news organization founded in 1846 that now has more than 200 bureaus in nearly 100 countries, producing an average of 2,000 news stories a day and publishing more than a million photographs each year. JA00374-75 (citing *generally* https://www.ap.org/about/). Its member news entities, including newspapers and broadcasters, republish its articles. *Id.* The Associated Press has been awarded 58 Pulitzer Prizes since the honor was established in 1917. JA00375.

Regina Garcia Cano has been a full-time journalist with The Associated Press for more than nine years, after earning her master's degree in journalism in public affairs reporting at the University of Illinois Springfield. JA00258-270 (Decl. of R. Garcia Cano). During her time as a news reporter, Garcia Cano has lived and worked in places as diverse as Ohio, Mexico, Baltimore, tribal lands in South Dakota, Las Vegas, and Venezuela. *Id.* ¶¶ 2, 4. At the time she reported and wrote the Challenged Article, Garcia Cano worked in the Las Vegas bureau of The Associated

Press as a gambling and tourism reporter, where she reported on casino-related stories, including labor, employment, and contract issues. *Id.* ¶ 3. She also covered breaking news, such as the tragic mass shooting at the Mandalay Bay casino that left hundreds injured and 60 dead. *Id.* She now works as Andes Correspondent for The Associated Press and is based in Caracas, Venezuela. *Id.* ¶ 4.

C. The Public Allegations About Wynn's Conduct

The context for the defamation claim in this case, arising from the Challenged Article published in late February 2018, was a public controversy that had emerged the month before. In late January 2018, a series of allegations and revelations about Wynn's personal conduct unraveled his professional life. On January 26, 2018, the WSJ reported that dozens of former employees alleged that Wynn had engaged in a "decades-long pattern of sexual misconduct," including "pressuring employees to perform sex acts." JA00273. According to one of the allegations, Wynn coerced a manicurist at his casino, the Wynn Las Vegas, to have sexual intercourse with him. JA00272-73. As the WSJ reported, and as court records revealed, Wynn paid the manicurist a \$7.5 million settlement. JA00273.⁶ Female employees allegedly hid in bathrooms or back rooms when Wynn visited the salons on his properties; others

_

⁶ Subsequent reporting revealed that Wynn entered into another settlement with a different woman in 2006. Regina Garcia Cano, *Steve Wynn settled with second woman over sex allegations*, AP (Mar. 19, 2018), https://www.apnews.com/ba96b0e47ccb4dbdb6f42528a878b37f (JA00376).

reported being called to his office to provide massage services where Wynn would insist on sexual activities, and where one or more of his German shepherds were at times nearby. JA00275-276. Wynn denies these allegations. JA00003.

The week after publication of the WSJ's investigative report, Bloomberg News, on February 2, 2018, reported that the \$7.5 million settlement agreement with the manicurist at the casino involved a paternity claim against Wynn. JA00281-283. Three days later, on February 5, 2018, the *Las Vegas Review Journal* (LVRJ) published two articles, including one regarding an allegation that Wynn had repeatedly pressured a waitress at his resort, The Mirage, to have sex "to keep her job," JA00298-306, and another report that, in 1998, LVRJ had killed a news report about sexual misconduct allegations against Wynn made by a woman who had passed a polygraph exam, and which was supported by court filings and other documents, JA00285-295; *see also* JA00261-62 (Garcia Cano Decl. ¶ 7).

The impact of the reporting was immediate. Shares in Wynn Resorts lost more than 17 percent of their value, and regulators in Nevada, Macau and Massachusetts announced they would look into the allegations, with the Massachusetts Gaming Commission saying it would consider suspending or revoking Wynn Resorts' license to operate in the state, JA00282, and the Nevada Gaming Control Board announcing it had opened an investigation, *id.* Wynn Resorts, too, launched an investigation and, within days, Wynn resigned as CEO and board chairman, citing "an avalanche

of negative publicity." JA00262. Wynn also resigned as finance chairman of the RNC, JA00309, 313, and several women filed civil lawsuits alleging sexual harassment or assault and the failure of Wynn-owned companies to act. JA00376, n.6. Through it all, AP reporters, including Garcia Cano, reported on these developments, including about the Nevada Gaming Control Board's investigation and Wynn's resignation as CEO and chairman of Wynn Resorts. JA00262.

D. The LVMPD Announcement of Sexual Assault Complaints Against Wynn and The AP's Reporting

On February 12, 2018, LVRJ published an article disclosing that, after the WSJ published its report, two women had filed complaints with LVMPD against Wynn for sexual assault decades earlier. JA00262; JA316-318. LVRJ's report quoted an LVMPD spokesman encouraging additional victims to come forward:

Two women have reported to Las Vegas police that they were sexually assaulted by casino developer Steve Wynn in the 1970s, a spokesman said Monday.

Metropolitan Police Department spokesman Larry Hadfield said the statute of limitations for sexual assault in Nevada is 20 years, but that should not discourage victims from speaking up.

"We would encourage all victims to come forward," he said.

Id.

The next day, Garcia Cano began reporting on these allegations. JA00263. She learned from LVMPD that their Public Information Office had released a public statement via email, and obtained the statement. *Id.* It read as follows:

The LVMPD has received two complaints against Steve Wynn alleging sexual assault. On January 29, 2018, a woman made a report from St. Louis stating the incident occurred in Las Vegas in the 1970's. A second woman filed a report February 5, 2018 at an LVMPD Substation in the Northwest part of the city. She stated the crime occurred in the 1970's in Chicago, IL. A courtesy report was taken and will be forwarded to Chicago authorities.

Below is the Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) pertaining to the statute of limitations for Sexual Assault. Due to the fact that the report was not filed within the time frame allowed by NRS, an investigation cannot go forward.

JA00320.

Garcia Cano then contacted Michael Weaver, a spokesman for Wynn Resorts, seeking comment on these allegations. JA00263; JA00322. Weaver declined comment, but he told her to contact "Mr. Wynn's communications representative," whom he identified as Ralph Frammolino of PivotHound Communications. *Id.* Garcia Cano sent Frammolino an email asking whether Wynn had comment on "the reports that two women have filed with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department saying that Mr. Wynn sexually assaulted them in the 1970s." JA00263; JA00325. Frammolino called and asked if they could speak "off the record," or without the conversation being used in a news article. JA00263-264. During their

call, Frammolino asked for the LVMPD statement, which she sent to him, and he told her that he would be back in touch. *Id*.

When Frammolino called back, he claimed for the first time that he was not Wynn's official "spokesperson," saying that Wynn spoke for himself. JA00264. Garcia Cano found Frammolino's disclaimer to be disingenuous given that Frammolino *acted* as a spokesperson, and the Wynn Resorts spokesperson identified him to Garcia Cano as Wynn's spokesperson on *two separate occasions*. *Id.*; *see also id.* at n.1. Frammolino, however, insisted that Garcia Cano could not even include in an article a statement that he or Wynn had declined to comment because their conversation had been off the record. *Id.*

Later that day, on February 13, 2018, The AP published an article written by Garcia Cano under the headline "Sexual assault reports against Wynn filed with Vegas Police." JA00264; JA00329-331. That article—over which Wynn did not assert a claim and which he ignores in his description of The AP's reporting—reads in its entirety:

LAS VEGAS (AP) – Two more sexual misconduct allegations were leveled against embattled casino mogul Steve Wynn on Tuesday, when police in Las Vegas revealed they recently received two reports from women saying the billionaire sexually assaulted them in the 1970s.

This was the first admission from police in Las Vegas about reports filed against Wynn since sexual misconduct allegations against him were revealed last month.

One woman reported Wynn assaulted her in Las Vegas and the other said she was assaulted in Chicago, the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department said in a statement. The Las Vegas case will not be investigated because the statute of limitations in Nevada is 20 years.

The victim of that alleged assault contacted the department from St. Louis on Jan. 29, three days after the Wall Street Journal reported that a number of women said Wynn harassed or assaulted them and that one case led to a \$7.5 million settlement.

The other, filed in Las Vegas on Feb. 5, is being forwarded to the Chicago Police Department. Details of exactly what transpired during the alleged assaults was not disclosed.

The billionaire has vehemently denied the allegations, which he attributes to a campaign led by his ex-wife.

"In the last couple of weeks, I have found myself the focus of an avalanche of negative publicity," Wynn said in a written statement that announced his resignation last week as chairman and CEO at Wynn Resorts. "As I have reflected upon the environment this has created — one in which a rush to judgment takes precedence over everything else, including the facts — I have reached the conclusion I cannot continue to be effective in my current roles."

Wynn Resorts spokesman Michael Weaver on Tuesday said the company does not have a comment on the reports filed by the women "because this involved a company before the establishment of Wynn Resorts."

Wynn is facing scrutiny by gambling regulators in Nevada and Massachusetts, where the company is building a roughly \$2.4 billion casino just outside Boston. Regulators in Macau, the Chinese enclave where the company operates two casinos, are also inquiring about the allegations.

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